Public Document Pack

5'"‘"““‘\\»&
a“
Executive
Committee
Wed 15 Dec REDDITGH B0R0UGK COUNCI
2021 m
6.30 pm ,a\dv\ By
2 %

Council Chamber " %0

(/

www.redditchbc.gov.uk



If you have any queries on this Agenda please contact
Jess Bayley-Hill

Town Hall, Walter Stranz Square, Redditch, B98 8AH
Tel: (01527) 64252 (Ext. 3072)
e.mail: jess.bayley-hill@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

GUIDANCE ON FACE-TO-FACE MEETINGS

Due to the current Covid-19 pandemic Redditch Borough Council will be applying
social distancing arrangements for holding face-to-face meetings.

Please note that this is a public meeting and is open to the public to attend. The
meeting will also be live streamed on the Council’s YouTube channel.

If you have any questions regarding the agenda or attached papers, please do not
hesitate to contact the officer named above.

GUIDANCE FOR ELECTED MEMBERS ATTENDING MEETINGS IN PERSON

In advance of the Committee meeting, Members are strongly encouraged to consider taking
a lateral flow test, which can be obtained from the NHS website. Should the test be positive
for Covid-19 then the Member must not attend the Committee meeting, should provide their
apologies to the Democratic Services team and must self-isolate in accordance with national
rules.

Members and officers must wear face coverings during the Executive Committee meeting,
unless exempt. Face coverings should only be removed temporarily if the Councillor or
officer is speaking or if s/he requires a sip of water and should be reapplied as soon as
possible. As Councillors may remove their masks from time to time during the meeting,
seating will be placed two metres apart, in line with social distancing measures to protect
meeting participants.

Hand sanitiser will be provided for Members to use throughout the meeting.

The meeting venue will be fully ventilated and Members and officers may need to consider
wearing appropriate clothing in order to remain comfortable during proceedings.

PUBLIC SPEAKING

Members of the public can ask Questions on Notice at meetings of the Executive Committee.
Questions on Notice should be registered with the Council by 5 pm on Tuesday 7%
December 2021. Further information about the rules in respect of asking Questions on
Notice at the meeting can be found in the agenda pack.

Members of the public will also be able to access the meeting to observe proceedings if they
wish to do so. However, due to social distancing requirements to ensure the safety of
participants during the Covid-19 pandemic, there will be limited capacity and members of the
public will be allowed access on a first come, first served basis. Members of the public in


mailto:jess.bayley-hill@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

attendance are strongly encouraged to wear face masks, to use the hand sanitiser that will
be provided and will be required to sit in a socially distance manner at the meetings. It should
be noted that members of the public who choose to attend in person do so at their own risk.

In line with Government guidelines, any member of the public who has received a positive

result in a Covid-19 test on the day of a meeting must not attend in person and must self-
isolate in accordance with the national rules.

Notes:

Although this is a public meeting, there are circumstances when Council might have
to move into closed session to consider exempt or confidential information. For
agenda items that are exempt, the public are excluded and for any such items the live
stream will be suspended and that part of the meeting will not be recorded.



REDDITGH BOR0UGH COUNCIL
—_— '

Executive

Agenda Membership:

Clirs: Matthew Dormer
(Chair)
Gemma Monaco
(Vice-Chair)
Joanne Beecham
Aled Evans
Peter Fleming

1. Apologies

2. Declarations of Interest

Wednesday, 15th December,
2021

6.30 pm
Council Chamber Town Hall

Anthony Lovell
Nyear Nazir
Mike Rouse
Craig Warhurst

To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and / or Other
Disclosable Interests they may have in items on the agenda, and to confirm the nature of

those interests.
3. Leader's Announcements

4. Minutes (to follow)

The minutes of the meeting of the Executive Committee that is due to take place on 7t
December 2021 will follow in a supplementary pack for consideration at the meeting.

5. Questions on Notice (Pages 1 - 2)

To consider any Questions on Notice submitted for the consideration of the Executive
Committee in accordance with paragraph 16 of the Executive Committee’s Procedure

Rules.

Any Questions on Notice that are submitted for consideration at this meeting will be

published in a supplementary pack.

6. New Cemetery Provision (Pages 3 - 28)

This report will be pre-scrutinised at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee due
to take place on Monday, 13" December 2021. Any recommendations arising from this
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the subject of this report will be
reported for the Executive Committee’s consideration in a supplementary agenda pack.



Executive
Wednesday, 15th December, 2021

{. To consider any urgent business, details of which have been notified to the
Head of Legal, Democratic and Property Services prior to the commencement
of the meeting and which the Chair, by reason of special circumstances,
considers to be of so urgent a nature that it cannot wait until the next meeting



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 Agenda ltem 5
PART 10

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE PROCEDURE RULES — EXTRACT IN
RESPECT OF THE RULES FOR CONSIDERATION OF
QUESTIONS ON NOTICE AT MEETINGS OF THE EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE

Questions on notice

16.3 Subject to Rule 16.4, a member of the Public may ask the Executive
Leader a question on any matter in relation to which the Executive
Committee or any sub-committee has powers or duties.
The Leader may, if appropriate, refer it to another member for answer.

16.4 A member of the public may only ask a question under Rule 16.3 if either:

(@) s/he has given at least 5 clear working days’ notice of the question
to the Monitoring Officer; or

(b) if the question relates to urgent matters, he/she has the consent of the
Leader and the content of the question is given to the Chief Executive
not less than 2 hours before the start of the meeting.

Questions which may not be asked

16.5 The Chief Executive may reject a question

(a) ifitis not about a matter for which the Executive Committee has
responsibility;

(b) is defamatory; frivolous or offensive;

(c) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a
meeting of the Committee in the past six months; or

(d) the question could more appropriately be dealt with by an officer.
Reading the question at the meeting

16.6 The question will be read out at the meeting by the person who has asked
the question or by another person on his/her behalf. Alternatively,

reference may be made to the Question as detailed in the agenda/ in
printed form.

RBC CONSTITUTION MAY 2012



Page 2 Agenda ltem 5
PART 10

Response
16.7 An answer may take the form of:

(@) a direct oral answer,

(b)  where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or
other published work, a reference to that publication; or

(c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written
answer circulated later to the questioner.

Supplementary question

16.8 A person asking a question under Rule 16.2 may, without notice, ask the
Leader one supplementary question. The supplementary question must
arise directly out of the original question or the reply.

Time limit for questions

16.9 At any meeting not more than 5 minutes per question, and 15 minutes in
total, shall be devoted by the Council to the asking and answering of
questions under this rule, provided that the Mayor may at his or her
discretion extend the time if the Mayor and the majority of those present
agree. Any questions remaining unanswered shall (unless the member
who gave notice of the question has indicated that it may be answered in
writing) be dealt with at the next ordinary meeting of the Council, in the
order in which they would have been dealt with at the original meeting.

RBC CONSTITUTION MAY 2012



Page 3 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021

New Cemetery Provision

Relevant Portfolio Holder Councillor Aled Evans
Portfolio Holder Consulted Yes
Relevant Head of Service Guy Revans

Report | Job Title: Bereavement Services Manager

Author | Contact email: michael.birkinshaw@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk
Contact Tel: 01527 64252

Wards Affected All

Ward Councillor(s) consulted No

Relevant Strategic Purpose(s)
Non-Key Decision

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in
advance of the meeting.

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Executive Committee is asked to RESOLVE that

1.1 Redditch Borough Council continue to provide new burial
provision,;

and

1.2 Ipsley Church Lane be progressed as the preferred option to
provide new burial provision

AND RECOMMEND that

1.3 A sum of £320,000 be budgeted to progress new burial provision

2. BACKGROUND

2.1  Redditch Borough Council operates and manages three cemeteries,
Plymouth Road, Edgioake Lane and Abbey Cemetery, and is also
responsible for St Stephen’s, St Luke’s and Feckenham closed church
yards, which have been passed to the authority to manage by their
Parish councils.

2.2  Plymouth Road is closed, and no new graves are available, although
burials in existing graves are still possible. Edgioake Lane Cemetery
has approximately five years burial provision available at current usage
but if other cemeteries close in the local area this will reduce to a



Page 4 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021

possible one-year provision at current borough wide burial rates.
Abbey now has approximately six months new grave provision left.
These figures are only indicative based on trends; however, they can
change for several reasons, for example, greater take-up of exclusive
right reservation; unsuitable ground conditions leading to graves being
made unavailable, and high death rates to name a few.

2.3  Options for a new cemetery site have been discussed by the council for
some years and a report was taken in 2010 in which Brooklands Lane
was taken forward. This proved to be unsuitable due to it being located
on an aquifer.

2.4  Since 2014, a further 25 identified parcels of land that had the potential
to be used have been investigated and highlighted some of the
challenges that could be encountered if they were to be developed.
Within this process, size, location, and potential development
requirements such as vehicle access and road location were
considered. Following this process sites were discounted for various
reasons and further investigations carried out on those deemed
suitable. Details of the locations, assessments, and reasons for not
progressing can be found in Appendix 1.

2.5 The general view with regards to the development of any new burial
provision within Redditch Borough is that there is an opportunity to
change from the more traditional Victorian style cemetery to a newer,
modern version that can enhance its surroundings rather than impact
on them. Cemetery design has moved very little in the last one hundred
and sixty years and is generally one of two basic designs, both of
which can be seen in our Plymouth Road site that was developed in
the mid to late 1800’s. Since then, our understanding of the grief
process and wider climatic impact of our actions have changed but the
development of cemeteries has remained the same.

2.6 As a general principle, officers believe that attending any new cemetery
within Redditch in years to come should provide comfort to the
bereaved and allow individuality in mourning loss. Ecology and climate-
impact will be the cornerstones of all decisions taken in terms of
design, layout and burial options provided.

2.7  Sympathetic designs e.g., not to place boundary fencing and to use
any existing mature hedgerows, will leave existing wildlife access
unchanged. As any development is expected to be phased, additional
planting of hedgerows and other boundary type foliage could be used
to further enhance any site. Obvious requirements such as access and
carparking can be designed to minimise the impact on the ecology of
the site and may not be traditional tarmac roads but recycled matting



Page 5 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021

that allows some paths and roads to be both structurally and
aesthetically suitable.

2.8 With appropriate designs it is possible to ensure protected species
such as Great Crested Newts are not only protected but enhanced.
Any designs for a site will be expected to enhance the ecology in the
long term not just protect it. Examples of this approach could be to take
existing features such as ponds & hedgerows that are in decline and
enhance them to encourage species to thrive. Current providers of
sites that have ecology at the heart of their development already exist
such as Westall Park Natural Burial Ground (Holberrow Green, B96
6JY) and the Greenacres Group.

2.9 The development of any new site can be done to ensure that in the
long term, local ecology is enhanced. The opportunity exists to develop
a plan leading to the area seeing a net benefit to the local ecology.
Cemetery sites remain excellent areas for the development of natural
habitat and with the correct use of items like wildlife corridors,
wildflower sections and other measures the overall position can be
enhanced. Also, the appropriate protection of the trees and a
comprehensive plan to develop a planting scheme will further help to
meet our climate change objectives.

2.10 Types of grave space and memorial options are at the centre of how
we mourn the loss of a loved one and any new cemetery provision for
Redditch would need to recognise this. However, this doesn’t need to
be the more traditional granite headstone laid out in formal rows. Using
innovative design of the site and more environmentally sustainable
memorial options such as locally sourced stone or wood etc laid in a
fashion that limits the visual as well as ecological impact is intended.
Any new cemetery would be more of a Memorial Park than a traditional
Victorian style cemetery that we see in existence within the borough.

2.11 A management plan could be completed to set the direction, style, and
expectations for grounds maintenance on any site. As an example, this
plan may include how maintenance is conducted between graves to
enhance a more rural, wildflower style boundary to each section. It may
also detail how headstones are sited and what type of materials they
can be made from.

2.12 Newer burial options that are starting to emerge which include options
to have remains buried and marked with a living memorial such as a
tree or other suitable planting scheme is intended to be considered so
that as different options are developed and the science of burial
changes over the coming years the council will be able to react
accordingly.



Page 6 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021
3. Potential New Burial Options

Provide no new provision for full burial or cremated remains
burials within the Borough (Location Plan 1)

3.1 Its important to note there is no statutory obligation to provide burial
provision and as such a local authority can cease offering new full and
cremated remains graves. This doesn’t affect the use of existing graves
in current cemeteries but will stop any new graves being used.

3.2 This option is the possibly simplest but risks creating a two-tier
bereavement system where those who have pre-purchased a plot have
already suffered a loss, can use an existing grave within the Borough
but those that are suffering bereavement potentially for the first time
are only offered out of the Borough solutions which may not support a
healthy grieving process.

3.3 By the Authority not developing any new burial provision for residents
of the Borough this might lead to a private provider offering to fill the
gap. This could lead to a provider needing to acquire land, develop and
ultimately generate a return for investors that could lead to high prices
paid by bereaved residents.

3.4 ltis important to recognise that there could be an emotional impact by
following this option as people may have to travel outside the Borough
to access new burial provision which may add stress in what is already
a difficult time.

3.5 Based on current burial trends deciding to not provide new provision
would impact in the region of 100 families each year. 60% of these
families would need a full burial and 40% burial of cremated remains.
The emotional impact on residents at an already very vulnerable time
leaves the Authority with a moral obligation to ensure that all residents
have an equal opportunity to access Bereavement Services regardless
of whether this is a first or subsequent loss. Also new grave purchases
account for 60% of all burials conducted within the cemeteries
currently.

3.6  The nearest provision that residents could access are Westall Park
Natural Burial Ground (Holberrow Green, B96 6JY Wychavon) or
Bromsgrove North Cemetery (Catshill, B61 OLU Bromsgrove) both of
which have limited sustainable transport solutions. Public transport
links, options to cycle or walk are very limited and this means that
residents without private transport would be disadvantaged. If residents
were to need to use either of these options, it is going to put higher



Page 7 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021

numbers of both funeral and private mourners’ traffic onto the local
networks which would need to travel outside of our Borough.

3.7  As mentioned above the issues caused by transport connectivity would
be in direct conflict with Borough of Redditch Local Plan number 4
Policy 45 with regards to the potential burial facilities within the
Borough.

3.8 There is potential for limited savings against expenditure such as less
fuel for machinery but the main costs such as salary & basic grounds
maintenance will remain as the existing sites remain operational and
need to be maintained.

3.8 Costs v Time to Implement

Notes

Preliminary Costs Nil Circa 100 families
disadvantaged per year
due lack of provision
which accounts for 60% of
service users annually
Development Costs Nil Potential limited savings
on operational costs such
as fuel but main costs
remain constant

Time to Implement Immediate

Reuse Plymouth Road Cemetery (Location Plan 2 & Background paper 1)

3.9 The potential reuse of any cemetery currently requires an act of
Parliament due to the existing burial & cemetery law in force at the time
of writing this report. Three things are required to make reuse lawful

The power to extinguish rights of burial
The power to disturb human remains
The power to move memorials
3.10 A recent example of a burial authority that has successfully followed
this process is New Southgate Cemetery which has been allowed to
reuse grave spaces due to religious needs.
3.11 If approved by Parliament the site at Plymouth Road could provide 10

years provision as it is likely that only graves over 75 years old could
be considered. It is also the fact that the large part of Plymouth Road



Page 8 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021

Cemetery is consecrated and therefore would require a Bishops
Faculty to exhume remains within these graves which we believe may
be difficult to acquire.

3.12 At least six months’ notice of the proposal to extinguish burial rights
must be given by the burial authority concerned. If the registered owner
objects to the proposal within that period, the right of burial may not be
extinguished. If any other person objects, the right may only be
extinguished by consent of the Secretary of State. This can add a
further layer of difficulty as objections by residents or historians could
lead to further delays.

3.13 Compensation may have to be considered where the rights of burial
were owned in perpetuity, and this would have to be agreed prior to the
commencement of any works. Also, the moving of memorials would
need to be considered and would form part of the legal instrument put
before parliament.

3.14 Timescales (as indicated in appendix 2) to gain Parliamentary approval
can be a minimum of two years. Following this a period of at least 12
months would be required to conduct the formal extinguishing of burial
rights followed by a further 18 months of ground works to begin to
prepare the graves for reuse. This means that the soonest this option
might provide new burial options for the Borough is 5 years.

3.15 The reuse of Plymouth Road would fit with the Borough of Redditch
Local Plan number 4 Policy 45 with regards to sustainable transport
due to its location in relation to public transport cycle & walking routes
and general tranquillity but not size of provision.

3.16 Whilst protection would be provided for Commonwealth War Graves
and those of other historical significance there could still be a general
view of the public that it is not morally acceptable to reuse the site as
this would require the graves to be emptied, the contents removed and
stored then reburied below the base of the existing grave before reuse
is possible.

3.17 Costs v Time to Implement

Notes
Preliminary Costs £70,000 For private bill only
Development Costs £389,400 600 graves to be worked
To create 5 years | at a per grave cost of
provision £649.00
Time to Implement Minimum 5 years | Circa 100 families
disadvantaged per year




Page 9 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021

due lack of provision
which accounts for 60% of
service users annually

Land off Ipsley Church Lane (Location Plan 3)

3.18 The site, which measures 4.60 hectares in size is located to the south
of Ipsley Church Lane and to the west of the B4497, Icknield Street
Drive. The Ipsley Church Lane junction with the B4497 lies to the north-
east corner of the site. The site itself comprises of largely open
grassland with mature trees and hedgerows to its perimeter. Ground
levels fall away across the site in a north to south direction.

3.19 Following desktop assessments that proved Brooklands Lane was not
suitable to continue as a potential new cemetery the land off Ipsley
Church Lane was considered and further testing was carried out to
monitor ground water.

3.20 With successful completion of the appropriate testing in line with
Environment Agency guidelines, a planning application was made to
test the principle of a cemetery on the land in question. Planning for the
entrance and wider change of use was approved on 13" October 2021.
A further application for the ‘reserved matters’ detailing the
engineering, landscaping and lay out will be required in due course.

3.21 Significant planning conditions were placed on the approval and will
need to be satisfied before any works can commence to construct the
entrance to the site. A budget of £70,000 would be required to ensure
that these conditions are met and to allow the formulation of a full
planning application referred to above

3.22 ltis important to note that due to the size of the site, a phased
development approach is favoured which would manage the
expenditure whilst also allowing burial provision to be available sooner.
Because of this phased approach, it is envisaged that at any given
point in time there will be more of the site unused than in use. This is
likely to be the case for several years into the future. Initial works in
phase one could also include ecologic enhancements to the as-yet
unused parts of the site and may include items like the dilapidated
ponds, unmanaged hedgerows, and potential planting schemes.

3.23 The land off Ipsley Church Lane is fully compliant with the Borough of
Redditch Local Plan number 4 Policy 45 and has better sustainable
transport connectivity than the existing provision at Abbey Cemetery.



Page 10 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021




Page 11 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021

3.24 Costs v Time to Implement

Notes

Preliminary Costs £70,000 To create satisfy planning
conditions and commence
entrance works. Also, to
support designs of site
layout to make full
planning application
Development £250,000 Phase 1 to be used to
Costs develop a small parcel of
land for immediate use
and infrastructure to
access the site, park, and
environmental
enhancements.

Time to Implement 2 years Circa 100 families
disadvantaged per year
due lack of provision
which accounts for 60% of
service users annually

Bordesley Abbey / Abbey Cemetery Extension (Location Plan 4)

3.25 A plan, submitted by a retired town planner and local resident,
proposed utilising several parcels of land surrounding the existing
Abbey Cemetery, Bordesley Lane. The main part is the adjoining field
to the east, with two further sites to the west and northwest that, have
has been suggested have the potential to provide provision for an
estimated total of 25 years.

3.26 To date there has been no additional testing carried out on any of the
proposed sites within this option. The cost of conducting tier one and
tier two Environmental Ground water testing was considered prohibitive
and as each individual parcel of land was only able to provide a short-
term solution.

3.27 There is a further complication in the fact that the site to the east of the
existing Abbey Cemetery forms part of a scheduled ancient monument.
Whilst this doesn’t automatically rule out the possibility to use the area,
it does add a level of complexity by the need for approval.

3.28 lItis envisaged that progressing this option would require three different
sets of ground water testing, three different ecology assessments as
well as three applications for planning permission / approval, at
appropriate times to create a 25-year provision for the Borough and we



Page 12 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021

would anticipate that the costs involved would render this financially
unviable.

3.29 The Bordesley Abbey / Abbey Cemetery option would not fit with the
Borough of Redditch Local Plan number 4 Policy 45 with regards to
sustainable transport due to the existing facilities not having public
transport connectivity.

3.30 Costs v Time to Implement

Comments

Preliminary Costs £90,000 For groundwater testing,
ecology, and planning
requirements on three
sites

Development Costs £350,000 Includes an additional
£100,000 for
archaeological provision
but this is likely to be
higher

Time to Implement 5 years Circa 100 families
disadvantaged per year
due lack of provision
which accounts for 60% of
service users annually

4. Summary of Options

4.1  Comparison table located on next page provides a summary of
information contained earlier in this report



Executive Committee

2021

Page 13

Agenda Iltem 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

15t December

Preliminary | Development | Time to Compliance | Outstanding items Risks
Cost Cost Implement | with Local
Plan Policy
45
No New £0 £0 Immediate No None . Two tier
Provision bereavement
of Burials system
. Disproportionally
affect the most
vulnerable
. Lack of support
for a healthy
bereavement
journey
. Making people
use private
facilities which
cost more
. Travel greater
distances by
private transport
not supporting
the sustainable
transport model
Reuse £70,000 £389,400 5 years Yes Private Bill . Time to
Plymouth Application implementation
Road Faculty from . Unsuccessful
Diocese of Private Bill
Worcester . Unsuccessful
Planning Faculty
application if application
designs . Public / family
changes are objections which
required can delay or
even stop the
process in law
. Requirement to
consider
compensation to
grave owners
Land off £70,000 £250,000 2 years Yes Comply with . Not gaining
Ipsley planning planning
Church conditions consent to
Lane Develop full develop phase
site designs one proposal
and make full Public
planning objections to the
application type and style of
Subject to development in
approval favour of a more
construct traditional
phase one approach
development
Bordesley | £90,000 £350,000 5 years No Application for . Public
Abbey / Scheduled objections to the
Abbey Monument disturbance of
Cemetery Consent the historical site
Extension Groundwater . Not gaining
& ecology Scheduled
assessments monument
to carried out consent
Outline . Costs of
planning archaeological
applications mitigation are
for each site expected to be
Full prohibitive
development . Not gaining
plans for each planning
site consent due to
Assessment being out of line
of viability with with local plan
reference to policy 45
the
archaeological
deposits




Page 14 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021

4.2  With reference to the above data, the Land off Ipsley Church Lane is
the most viable for future development based on initial and ongoing
developmental costs as well as time to implementation if the authority
wishes to continue to offer new burial provision within the Borough.

4.3  Next steps to progress Ipsley Church Lane would be to engage a
consultant to ensure that we satisfy the existing planning conditions
applied on the change of use application and following this to begin
construction of the entrance as previously agreed. At the same time,
we will finalise the interior design plans such as carparking, pathways
and other infrastructure items and submit these to planning for
approval.

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 To Provide no new provision for full burial or cremated remains
burials within the Borough there are no significant savings as staffing
levels and resources remain in place to provide maintenance and
existing services.

5.2 To Reuse Plymouth Road Cemetery costs to gain Parliamentary
approval and prepare the initial set of graves estimated at £459,400.
Further cost may be incurred during the process by way of
compensation and other factors in the parliamentary process.

5.3 Touse the Land off Ipsley Church Lane costs to create designs, gain
full planning consent for the interior of the site and to construct the
entrance are estimated at £320,000.

5.4  To create the Bordesley Abbey / Abbey Cemetery Extension costs
to assess the viability of land use to include ground water testing,
ecology etc estimated at £440,000. Additional costs for archaeological
mitigation expected to be significant and not included in the above
figure.

5.5 Any period during which new burial provision is not available creates a
loss of income and it is recognised that this may impact on the
service’s ability to reinvest into its future provision. Consequently, the
funds for reinvestment may have to be found from elsewhere within the
authority’s budgets.

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS




Page 15 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021

6.1 The main governing instruments for local authority cemeteries are
currently Section 214 and Schedule 26 of the Local Government Act
1972 and the Local Authorities Cemeteries Order Act 1977 (as
amended)

6.2  As stated above at 3.1 there is no statutory obligation on the local
authority to make provision for burials so a local authority can cease
offering new full and cremated remains graves although this would not
affect the use of existing graves in current cemeteries in the Borough.

7. STRATEGIC PURPOSES - IMPLICATIONS

Relevant Strateqgic Purpose

7.1 Living independent, active & healthy lives. The grieving process
and having an authority that provides effective and efficient
bereavement services helps support the wider physical and mental
wellbeing of the local population.

7.2  Communities which are safe, well maintained & green. As above
the standards to which the authority provides maintenance to any
cemetery provision has a direct effect on the grieving cycle of the local
population. Quality green spaces providing burial and scattering
options along with memorialisation promote a healthy grieving process.

Climate Change Implications

7.3  The Council’s commitment to the reduction of climate change can form
an integral part of the design of any new burial facilities. The overall
climatic impact of funerals from number of journeys made in relation to
funerals and cemetery visits, sustainable transport solutions and
choices about types and style of burial and memorialisation are at
times constrained by our existing infrastructure and limited capacity to
do things differently. The development of any new provision can have
the issue of climate change at the heart of any decision made.

7.4  As a basic principle of any development of new burial facilities within
Redditch Borough is to ensure carbon neutrality. The aspiration of any
development is to create a climatic net gain from the site. This may
require different thoughts on burial techniques and types of
infrastructure as previously mentioned. As an authority Redditch has
already completed an industry leading heat recovery system over 10
years ago at the crematorium and any new facility could push the
environmental boundaries once again.



Page 16 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021

7.5 Overall ecological and biodiversity gains as well as different burial
options should see a cemetery enhancing its surroundings and
ultimately being good for the environment in the long term.

8. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

Equalities and Diversity Implications

8.1  Alack of cemetery provision within the Borough could lead to additional
hardship for local families such as increased travel costs attending a
site outside the Borough. This could further be difficult for the more
vulnerable members of the Borough for whom traveling must be by
specialist arrangement.

8.2 A potential lack of cemetery provision could also lead to longer term

health and social issues as families may struggle to grieve in the
traditional way at a grave side.

8. RISK MANAGEMENT

8.1 The authority may be at reputational risk if a new cemetery site is not
provided as this could lead to the private sector opening a facility (subject
to the standard planning approval process). This might lead to higher
fees and charges being charged than would otherwise been the case if
the authority had provided the service.

8.2  The authority may at financial risk should a competing facility be opened
within the Borough by the private sector. If this was to happen then the
income levels projected above may not be met in the timescales listed.

9. APPENDICES and BACKGROUND PAPERS

9.1 Appendix 1 — Site Assessments Summary

9.2  Location Plan 1 — Westall Park Natural Burial Ground,
Holberrow Green, B96 6JY & Bromsgrove North Cemetery,
Catshill, B61 OLU Bromsgrove

9.3  Location Plan 2 — Plymouth Road, B9X XXX

9.4  Location Plan 3 — Land off Ipsley Church Lane, BXX XXX

9.5 Location Plan 4 — Abbey Cemetery Extension, B97 6RR

9.6 Background Paper 1 on Plymouth Road Private Bill



Page 17 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021




Page 13 Agenda Item 6

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL

Executive Committee 15t December
2021

9. REPORT SIGN OFF

Department Name and Job Title Date

Portfolio Holder

Lead Director / Head of
Service

Financial Services

Legal Services

Policy Team (if equalities
implications apply)

Climate Change Officer (if
climate change
implications apply)




Potential Cemetery Sites
Assessment Summary

Site Area |Size (hectares) [Vehicle access |Major Earthworks required |High Voltage Cables [Ground Water Fits Local Plan |Suitable for [Outcome of further|Site Status
Considerations (Size) further investigations
investigation
1|Alcester Highway A 0.7|None Yes Yes Wide open water No No Discounted
Extension Land course with signs of
flooding
2|Alcester Highway B 0.4|None No Yes Narrow ditch No No Discounted
Extension Land
3|(Morrisons) Arrow Valley |A 1.1{None Yes No None No No Discounted
Park, Battens Drive
4{(Morrisons) Arrow Valley |B 2.5|None No No Open stream & Yes Yes Access would be Discounted
Park, Battens Drive water channel from 40mph road
other sites
potentially more
suitable therefore
excluded from
investigations
5|Foxlydiate Wood, Brockhill |A 1.7|None Yes No None Yes No Discounted
Drive
6|Edgioake Lane Cemetery, |A 1.4(None No No None No Yes Site not for sale Discounted
Edgioake Lane
7|Ipsley Church Lane, Ipsley |A 0.7|None Yes Yes None No No Discounted
8|lpsley Church Lane, Ipsley |B 0.3|None Yes Yes None No No Discounted
9|lIpsley Church Lane, Ipsley |C 4.5|None No No Small Pond near Yes Yes Minor earthworks, |Recommended
south west corner location near
church & additional
carparking for large
events
10|Greenlands Park, A 5.0|Yes No No Small open stream |Yes Yes Loss of sports Discounted
Throckmorton Road running west to east facilities which
Sport England are
likely to object
against
11|Greenlands Park, B 1.4(None Yes No Small open stream |No No Discounted
Throckmorton Road running west to east
12|Coldfield Drive, A 2.5|None Yes Yes Small open drainage [Yes No Discounted
Oakenshaw channel
13|0Oakenshaw Park, Rosehall |A 0.7|None Yes No None No No Discounted
Close, Pheasant Lane
14|0akenshaw Park, Rosehall |B 0.4|None Yes No None No No Discounted
Close, Pheasant Lane
15|0akenshaw Park, Rosehall |C 0.9|None Yes No None No No Discounted

Close, Pheasant Lane

6T abed

9 wal| epuaby



Site Area [Size (hectares) |Vehicle access |Major Earthworks required |High Voltage Cables [Ground Water Fits Local Plan |Suitable for [Outcome of further|Site Status
Considerations (Size) further investigations
investigation
16|0Oakenshaw Park, Rosehall |D 0.6|None Yes No None No No Discounted
Close, Pheasant Lane
17|0akenshaw Park, Rosehall |E 0.5|None Yes No None No No Discounted
Close, Pheasant Lane
18| Woodrow Park, Milcote A 2.4|None Yes No None Yes No Discounted
Close, Highland Way,
Netherfield, Greenland,
Woodrow North
19|Woodrow Park, Milcote B 1.2|None Yes No None No No Discounted
Close, Highland Way,
Netherfield, Greenland,
Woodrow North
20|Woodrow Park, Milcote C 1.3|None Yes No None No No Discounted
Close, Highland Way,
Netherfield, Greenland,
Woodrow North
21|Brooklands Lane A None Yes No None Yes Yes Located on an Discounted
aquifer and has
underground high
voltage cables
22|Bordesley Abbey Extension |A 2.5|None Yes No None Yes Yes Located within a Not Recommended
scheduled ancient
monument & fails
local plan on
sustainable
transport
23|Bordesley Abbey Extension |B 0.6|None No No None Yes Loss of sports Not Recommended
facilities which
Sport England are
likely to object
against & fails local
plan on sustainable
transport
24|Bordesley Abbey Extension |C 2.6|None Yes No None Yes Yes Fails local plan on [Not Recommended
sustainable
transport
25|Plymouth Road Cemetery |A 0.8|Yes No No None No Yes Requires private Not Recommended
bill in parliament
and extensive
works to reuse
graves
26|Sillins Lane, Callow Hill A 1.9|None Yes No None Yes Yes Site not for sale Discounted

0z abed

9 wal| epuaby



Page 71

Location Plan 1

N
E
® North Bromsgrove
Cemetery
S
e Westall Park
Natural Burial Ground
REDDITCH B0ROUGH COUNCIL Poject.  New Cemetery Provision [Drawn:  PTL  |Engineering and Design Services
.:,‘Zm Town Hall
Walter Stranz Square
Bromsgrov_e North Bromsgrove 1/70.000 Redditchq
District Council |orawing: Cemetery and Westall [Scale: =50 Worcs B98 8AH
Park Burial Ground
www.bromsgrove.gov.uk
Drawing No: P2038/46 Date: Nov 2021 © Crown Copyright and database rights 2021

www.redditchbc.gov.uk

Ordnance Survey 100024252




This page is intentionally left blank



Page 73

Location Plan 2

O

5 Plymouth Road
Cemetery

o ,.
#

REDDITCH BOROUGH CNCIL
=——20) |

www.redditchbc.gov.uk

Bromsgrove
District Council

www.bromsgrove.gov.uk

Project: New Cemetery Provision | brawn:  PTL Engineering and Design Services
Town Hall
Walter Stranz Square

. Plymouth Road 1/20,000 Redditch

Drawing: . Scale: ! Worcs B98 8AH
9 Cemetery Details @ A4

; . . © Crown Copyright and database rights 2021

Drawing No: P2038/47 Date:  Nov 2021 Ordnance Survey 100024252




This page is intentionally left blank



Page 25 A

Mill Hill :
N Location Plan 3
E
s
g
J Ipsley Church Lane
o Proposed Cemetery
Red Hill
d} a
Green Lane
' tudley
REDDITCH B0ROUGH COUNCIL Poject.  New Cemetery Provision [Drawn:  PTL  |Engineering and Design Services
m Town Hall
Bromsgrove Walter Stranz Square
iStri i - Ipsley Church Lane . 1/20,000 Redditch
DISUICt COU ﬂCI| Drawing: Cemetery Details Scale: @ Ad Worcs B98 8AH
www.bromsgrove.gov.uk
www.redditchbc.gov.uk Drawing No: P2038/48 Date:  Nov 2021 | ©Crow Convighiand darabase Tohts 2021




This page is intentionally left blank



rFage Z/(

0
b —
8 g
z £
A 28
oS
5 S z gg
= o < 25
0 ZNc® o]
<4 N G @ g7
A ITceEs -3
cs8m c 2
T 253, g5
WOSRC 20
> F-"35 o3
) o 2 = s
o S 3 S8
) T =2 8s
< % MO
5 £ :
= o O
7] c
i} S ©
°
=
o I
m o N
o<
= S < <
o ©Q >
<}
- Z
<z ..
H 2 I
[ 3 ®
@ a ) a
c
2
N = 2 >
< °F 5 > | 5
° o ) )
- N = E hust =
<< = o o Q (2]
n _ 2 [2] <
rm == > ml ~
o = © T 2 0T oo}
a 2 © o o O + I50)
— (" o0n - [ o
o o >0 N
DI c 3 O > £ ) o
L o M o o
T o] a
c = = © <
- QO <
eM — W
o o
o 8 ]
. —_— a.m pd
+—J 23 )
(g0} < .. z
. [=)) j=2
o 13 g g
a a a

VD=3
> Yz
o5|s
r (0]

O3
ao |5

e
E0|s

— | o
S7|:
MmOz

L

REDDITGH RORDUGH COUNC!
www.redditchbc.gov.uk




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	5 Questions on Notice
	6 New Cemetery Provision
	Appendix 1 - Site Assessment Survey - A3 Pdf FINAL
	Location Plan 1 - Westall Park - Bromsgrove North
	Location Plan 2 - Plymouth Road
	Location Plan 3 - Ipsley Church Lane
	Location Plan 4 - Bordesley Extension


